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For Neal and Jane Freeman



INTRODUCTION

THE GREATEST STORY NEVER TOLD

Since the collapse of the Soviet empire in the early 1990s, we’ve learned a lot about Communist tactics used against the West in the long death struggle called the Cold War—much of it contrary to accepted wisdom in media/academic circles.

Some of this information is brand-new, some of it confirming things already known, some completely unexpected—but all of it important. The revelations are the more so as the story of what actually happened in the clash of global superpowers that dominated the second half of the twentieth century has yet to be told in adequate fashion. For numerous reasons—some legitimate, others not—significant facts about this conflict were the deepest-dyed of secrets, denied outright or held back from the public, and even today aren’t common knowledge.

Of note in this respect, covert by nature and kept that way for decades, was the nonstop backstage warfare that was waged between the opposing forces even as peace in theory prevailed among the nations. Only by degrees have we come to understand the extent of this clandestine combat, and a great deal more is still waiting to be discovered. Even so, with the revelations of recent years we have enough data in hand to sketch the outlines of an astounding tale and fill in specifics about some matters long uncertain or contested.

Considering only its larger aspects, the Cold War story is of course well-known and doesn’t need much elaboration. With the Bolshevik Revolution of 1917, conflict between the new Soviet rulers of Russia and the non-Communist nations was foreordained and, despite numerous tactical zigzags, would persist for generations. The hostility stemmed in part from conditions on the ground in Europe during World War I, but mainly from the belief of Soviet commissars Lenin and Trotsky that their victory would be the precursor to Red revolution elsewhere, and that the new Communist state would lead the way in making this happen. Soviet methods of secret warfare were developed to advance this revolutionary vision.

Generally speaking, what the new disclosures tell us about all this is that Communist covert actions against the United States and other target nations were relentless and effective, far more than most historians have imagined. The Kremlin used such tactics in systematic fashion, made them key elements of state policy, and devoted enormous resources to them. The data also show the manner in which the West fought back against this challenge, though in most cases we were on the defensive, playing catch-up, and far less practiced in secret warfare. We thus for many years experienced more defeats than triumphs, though with some victories to our credit.

As the record further shows, a main object of Moscow’s subliminal onslaught was to plant secret agents in the United States and other Western nations, with emphasis on official agencies that dealt with military, intelligence, or foreign policy issues. From these positions, pro-Soviet operatives were able to engage in policy sabotage, spying, and other species of subversion that advanced the interests of the Kremlin. As shall be seen, activity of this type was involved in countless aspects of the Cold War story.

Among the information sources now available on such matters, those most often cited are the Venona decrypts compiled by the U.S. Army Signal Corps in the 1940s. Venona was the code name given to encrypted messages exchanged between the Red intelligence bosses in Moscow and their agents in this country. The Army code breakers intercepted thousands of these missives and by a painstaking process were able to decipher a substantial number. This information, reflecting the extent of the Soviets’ activities in the United States and the identities of many of their contacts, was shared by the Army with the FBI to counter and eventually help break various of the pro-Red networks. These decrypts weren’t made public until 1995, half a century after they were first recorded.1

Other revelations dating from the 1990s include material from the archives of the Soviet Union and other east bloc nations when for a brief period after the Communists were toppled from power such records were made available to researchers. The most recent such disclosures are the so-called Vassiliev papers, named for a former Soviet intelligence staffer who made voluminous copies of secret records and smuggled them out of Russia when he defected to the West. Similar revelations had been made by previous such defectors, including Oleg Gordievsky, Stanislav Levchenko, and Victor Kravchenko, along with native American defectors such as Whittaker Chambers and Elizabeth Bentley.

Of importance also—though an underrated resource—are the confidential archives of the FBI, which was tracking and recording the activities of Communists and Soviet agents in the United States before Venona came on line and before the advent of the Cold War. In some recent studies the efforts of the FBI in this regard have been disparaged, but, on close inspection, these negative comments aren’t backed up by the record. In some cases of the New Deal years the Bureau may have missed clues it should have noted, but by the early 1940s it was far ahead of other U.S. agencies in spotting and combating the infiltration problem.

To all of which there should be added—though this too is much neglected—a sizable trove of information about Red activity in the United States collected by committees of the Congress, based on the testimony of ex-Communist witnesses, the findings of staff investigators, and information from intelligence agencies, security squads at the State Department, and other official bodies. Like the endeavors of the FBI, the work of the committees was often downgraded or ignored while the Cold War was in progress. As may be seen today in the light of the new disclosures, the hearings and reports of the House Committee on Un-American Activities, Senate Internal Security Subcommittee, and other panels of the Congress were (and are) a gold mine of useful information on Cold War issues.

Looking at this considerable body of data, and matching one set of materials with another, we can draw certain definite conclusions about the scope of Soviet-Communist activity in the United States and other target nations. First and foremost, it’s evident from now-available records that Communist penetration of our government—and our society in general—was, over a span of decades, massive. Hundreds of Soviet agents, Communist Party members, and fellow travelers were ensconced on official payrolls, beginning in the New Deal era then increasing rapidly during World War II, when the Soviets were our allies against the Nazis.

As the record further shows, Communists and fellow travelers on official rosters in case after case were agents of the Soviet Union, plighting their troth to Moscow and striving to promote the cause of the dictator Stalin. This is of course contrary to the notion that American Reds were simply idealistic do-gooders, perhaps a bit misguided but devoted to peace and social justice, and thus shouldn’t have been ousted from government jobs just because of their opinions. In countless instances, we know that domestic Communists in official posts were actively working on behalf of Russia, and thus were the minions of a hostile foreign power.

In due course many such pro-Soviet operatives rose to fairly high positions, which made their allegiance to Moscow even more problematic. The best known of these apparatchiks was Alger Hiss, who became a significant figure in the U.S. State Department in the war years and would play a critical role in planning for the postwar era. And while Hiss is the most remembered of Moscow’s undercover agents, he was merely one of many. As the records prove, there were dozens of others like him at the State Department, White House, Treasury, Commerce, the wartime agencies, and other official venues.

In sum, as shown by a now substantial mass of data, a powerful and devious enemy had by the middle 1940s succeeded in planting myriad secret agents and sympathizers in offices of the U.S. government (and other posts of influence) where they were able to serve the cause of Moscow and betray America’s national interests. The American people were blissfully ignorant of this danger, while a sizable number of high officials were either indifferent to the problem or in some cases complicit with it. A more alarming scenario for the safety and security of the nation would be hard to imagine.

Further confirmed by the recent revelations is something known before but in frequent need of stressing. Communist operatives in the United States were linked in multiple ways not only to their Moscow bosses but to Reds in other countries, all parts of a far-flung global apparatus. The most conspicuous of these ties were to the Cambridge University Communist cell of England, which produced such notorious Soviet agents as Anthony Blunt, Kim Philby, and Guy Burgess. There were, in addition, North American members of this ring who attended Cambridge in the 1930s and then returned to pursue official duties on this side of the ocean. Such pro-Red operatives as Philby, Burgess, and Donald Maclean would later be dispatched to Washington by Whitehall to liaise with U.S. officials. American and British security problems accordingly crisscrossed and interacted at many places.

Thus far our analysis and conclusions track closely with the views of others who have examined the relevant data and written about these matters. At this point, however, the story as we see it diverges sharply from that set forth in some other volumes—the main difference concerning the seemingly pervasive notion in Cold War studies that the major if not the only problem posed by Communists on official payrolls was that of spying. In what seems to be the now standard version of the subject, it’s assumed or said that the chief danger presented by Soviet agents in the United States was the theft of military or diplomatic secrets. Conversely, it’s implied though seldom explicitly stated that if such spying didn’t happen, the presence of Communists on official payrolls was not a huge security problem.

Our view is quite otherwise, in emphasis as well as in some respects in terms of substance. It’s evident on the record before us that pro-Soviet spying did occur in the United States, sometimes in large doses, and was of great importance. This was most famously so concerning theft of our atomic secrets, but applied as well to confidential data such as the development of radar, jet propulsion, and other military systems. We not only acknowledge the significance of such spying, but stress it in most definite fashion. But that stipulation is different from the notion that spying was the only problem posed by Soviet agents. As important in some respects—and often more so—was the question of policy influence wielded by pro-Soviet apparatchiks on official payrolls (who were in fact dubbed “agents of influence” by their Moscow bosses).

Not, to be sure, that influence and espionage operations existed in separate, watertight compartments, nor could they in many cases have done so. The two aspects typically went together, as Communist or pro-Soviet moles in official positions might do one, the other, or both, as opportunity presented. The case of Alger Hiss provides a notable instance. Much has been made of the “pumpkin papers” (copies of diplomatic records) that his ex-Communist accuser Chambers produced in the course of their legal battles as proof that Hiss engaged in espionage when he was at the State Department. Attention has been focused pro and con on what these documents proved concerning his fealty to Moscow and (among his defenders) where else they might have come from. Less noticed is what the documents were about—namely, data from U.S. envoys abroad that would have disclosed to Moscow what American and other Western policy was going to be in the global turmoil occurring in the 1930s.

Guided by such inside information, the Soviets could plan their own strategies with assurance—like a card player who could read the hand of an opponent. Knowing what the United States or other Western nations would do with respect to Germany, Poland, Spain, Japan, or China, the commissars could make their moves with foreknowledge of the responses they would get from other powers. Thus the two facets of the Soviet project interacted—the spying handmaiden to the policy interest. And, of course, if knowing what the policies of the United States and other non-Communist nations would be was useful to the Kremlin, then being able to influence or guide those policies in some manner would have been still more so.

The degree to which such questions are glossed over in some recent studies is the more puzzling, as Cold War scholars generally are aware of the influence issue. No serious student of these matters, for example, can be ignorant of the Cold War role played by Chambers, who knew a lot about spying and was involved in it on a professional basis. Yet Chambers repeatedly stressed that spying as such was not the major issue. Rather, he said, with the likes of Hiss in federal office, policy influence was by far the leading problem. As Chambers expressed it:

In a situation with few parallels in history, the agents of an enemy power were in a position to do much more than purloin documents. They were in a position to influence the nation’s foreign policy in the interest of the nation’s chief enemy, and not only on exceptional occasions, like Yalta (where Hiss’s role, while presumably important, is still ill-defined) or through the Morgenthau plan for the destruction of Germany (which is generally credited to [Soviet agent Harry Dexter] White) but in what must have been the staggering sum of day to day decisions.2

As shall be seen, Chambers was correct about the roles of Hiss and White, though now accessible records that prove the point weren’t open to inspection when he made this comment. As to the relative importance of policy influence compared to spying, Chambers further noted, “That power to influence policy has always been the ultimate purpose of the Communist Party’s infiltration. It was much more dangerous, and, as events have proved, much more difficult to detect, than espionage, which beside it is trivial, though the two go hand in hand.”3 (Emphasis added.) That sums up the matter about as well as it can be stated, and sets forth a major thesis of this volume.

In the face of this explicit testimony by one of the foremost experts on such subjects—whose expertise is well-known to researchers—it’s remarkable that our histories continue to stress espionage in such one-sided manner. This focus has in turn been significant in limiting our Cold War knowledge, as journalists and scholars thus guided have been minutely examining a restricted, albeit important, set of issues. There is of course nothing wrong with espionage inquiries per se—quite the contrary—but they become misleading if they screen from view the issue of policy influence that was meanwhile being wielded by pro-Soviet agents in federal office.

Obscured by this approach, for instance, are numerous crucial questions about the establishment and growth of Communist global power and its threat to our survival. To what extent, if any, did pro-Soviet operatives in the West contribute to the success of the Bolshevik cause at the outset of the Soviet revolution? Or maneuver against the United States to Moscow’s advantage in the run-up to Pearl Harbor? What role did concealed Communist agents of influence in the West play in the summit conferences of World War II among Franklin Roosevelt, Joseph Stalin, and Winston Churchill? In the standard treatments these and numerous other such questions aren’t answered, or even raised, because they don’t involve the issue of spying. The self-evident result of such omissions is an enormous gap in the historical record.

Apart from issues of this type, discovering the facts about the infiltration is no easy matter, as the pertinent data were so long kept secret. This stemmed initially from the subliminal aspects of the struggle, but was made worse by measures of official concealment used to prevent the public from seeing the scope and nature of the problem. The most explicit policies to this effect were presidential secrecy orders handed down by Washington administrations from the 1940s through the 1960s, denying FBI reports and other relevant information about the issue to Congress and the American people, with results that lingered on for decades.

Add to this a problem that in some respects was (and is) even more disturbing: the disappearance of many official records bearing on Cold War matters, either by way of “weeding” or transfer of important papers from one place to another, with no indication that this was done, or in some cases the outright destruction of security data. Several episodes of this nature will be examined in the pages that follow—some dating back to World War II, others as recent as the 1990s.

Further measures of concealment have included efforts by high-ranking U.S. officials to manipulate grand juries (at least two that we know of) to ensure that Communists and pro-Soviet henchmen in policy-making weren’t brought to justice. The importance of such methods for purposes of the present survey is that not only did they corruptly influence the nation’s legal system, they also warped the historical record available to researchers, so that treatments of the Cold War today often reflect a mistaken version of these cases and thus the true extent of the security problem.

From these considerations, the bottom line to be derived is in some ways the most distressing part of the story. In essence, the Communist conspirators of the 1930s and 1940s, assisted by some high-level U.S. officials, got away with their betrayal. A relative handful—Hiss, Carl Marzani, William Remington, the Rosenbergs—were indicted and convicted, but scores of others were repeatedly able to betray the United States and the non-Communist world to Moscow, then simply walk away from the policy damage they inflicted, with no accountability for their actions.

Even more to the point, most of these conspirators are getting away with it even now—in the pages of what purport to be histories of the Cold War. In numerous cases of the latter 1940s, as shall be seen, Communists and Soviet agents were pressured to leave the federal payroll (though in some instances even this didn’t happen), but this too was done sub rosa, with no fanfare or public notice. Since there was thus in the overwhelming majority of cases no legal action or disclosure of the relevant background, the suspects would discreetly vanish from the historical record to savor in quiet retirement their clandestine exploits against U.S. and free-world interests.

A final element of obfuscation to be dealt with is that many official data that escaped destruction or removal have nonetheless been sanitized, so that even the documents we’ve been given are far from being full disclosure. A prime example involves the Yalta conference of February 1945, where President Roosevelt met with British prime minister Churchill and Soviet leader Stalin to make decisions that would dictate the postwar future and affect the lives of millions. Unfortunately, the official State Department compilation of the Yalta papers omitted or obscured many essential facts about the conference, what was done there, and how it happened. As this was the most crucial of the wartime summits, these omissions and obscurities have been of utmost importance in shaping—or misshaping—the long-accepted Cold War record.†

Our focus on Yalta in these comments is not coincidental, as this was the conference that more than any other determined the contours of the postwar landscape and led to some of the deadliest episodes of the Cold War. Yalta and the predecessor conference at Teheran were the culmination of a process that had been under way, in some respects, since the latter 1930s. In the pages that follow, we review some unreported aspects of the Yalta summit, before moving on to consideration of various historic issues and acts of state that resulted from the wartime meetings. As shall be seen, the now discernible facts of record are starkly different from the version of Cold War events set forth in many histories of the era.



1.

EVEN IF MY ALLY IS A FOOL

It was, said Prime Minister Winston Churchill, “the greatest concentration of earthly power that had ever been seen in the history of mankind.”1

Britain’s inspirational wartime leader was referring to the Teheran conference of late November 1943, where he met with American president Franklin Roosevelt and Soviet dictator Joseph Stalin, his allies in the deadly struggle that was being waged against the Nazi Wehrmacht and (by the United States and Britain, though not by Russia) against Japan’s Imperial legions. It was an accurate summary of conditions then prevailing. The allies at Teheran commanded land and naval forces more formidable than those deployed in any other conflict, before or after. Among them they controlled vast stretches of the earth and its major seaways, and were rapidly conquering others.

While Churchill’s reference was to Teheran, it would be as valid, in fact a good deal more so, slightly over a year thereafter, when the three leaders met again near the Black Sea resort city of Yalta, in what was then the Soviet Union. By the time of Yalta, not only was the combined might of the Big Three even more prodigious; it was obvious that the Germans and Japanese were soon going to be defeated. At that point the victorious allies could together rule the world in toto, as there would be no other state or group of states remotely able to oppose them. Supremacy on such a scale was unprecedented in the annals of global warfare.

With such great power went huge responsibilities, opportunities, and problems. The superpowers held in their hands the fate of millions who had survived the ravages of war and would now dig out from beneath the rubble. These bewildered and battered peoples would be desperately seeking to put their lives back together in some semblance of peace and order. What the Big Three decided at the wartime summits would dictate their ability to do so, with impact that would last for decades.

Given all of the above, some understanding of what happened at these meetings would seem essential to an informed assessment of late-twentieth-century history and the further mortal combat that filled its pages. Yet, in standard treatments of the era, such understanding is hard to come by. Many of these are by-the-book accounts of campaigns and battles, Allied advances and reverses, steps taken to mobilize American forces, U.S.-British joint endeavors, and other facets of the military struggle. Others might be described as court histories, written on behalf of the people wielding power and meant to justify their actions. All, as noted, have been limited in that relevant data were long held back, ignored, or censored, and in some instances still aren’t available for viewing. The net result of all these factors is that a complete and accurate record of what was done at these meetings in terms of geopolitical outcomes is still waiting to be written.

While making no pretensions to completeness, what follows is an attempt to fill in some historical blanks—to retrieve some of the missing data reflecting what happened at the wartime summits, and in the intervals between them, why it happened, and what resulted from the decisions taken. The principal focus is not on battles, generals, or naval forces, but on things occurring behind the scenes, as revealed by formerly secret records, memoirs of political and military figures, and confidential security archives now made public. In particular, we seek to trace the doings of certain shadowy figures in the background whose activities had significant influence on the decisions made and the Cold War policies that followed.

Briefly at Teheran, and more extensively at Yalta, discussions would be held among the Big Three powers about the shape of the postwar world, how its nations should be governed, and how to keep the peace among them. There was at Yalta specifically talk of a supranational body that would prevent outbreaks of future warfare and ensure the universal reign of justice.† This was a chief preoccupation of FDR, who in emulation of Woodrow Wilson before him thought the founding of such an agency would be his great legacy to the future.

These lofty notions were in keeping with the stated purposes of the war, as set forth in official speeches and manifestos. In the widely heralded Atlantic Charter of August 1941, issued in the names of Roosevelt and Churchill, the two leaders had vowed their commitment to self-government, national independence, and political freedom. The Anglo-American powers, said the charter, “desire no territorial changes that do not accord with the freely expressed wishes of the people.” It underscored the point by stressing “the right of all peoples to choose the form of government under which they shall live.” These thoughts would be reprised at Yalta, with a few verbal changes, in a “Declaration on Liberated Europe,” agreed to by all of the Big Three allies.2

Of course, not all or even most discussions at Teheran and Yalta were conducted at this level. There were practical issues to be decided that were more immediate and pressing, and had to be settled while the war was still in progress. Among these was the destiny of the soon-to-be-conquered German nation, how its people should be dealt with, its assets distributed, and its lands divided. Also on the list of immediate topics were states of Eastern Europe that had initially been overrun by the Nazis and then captured by the Russians, whose prewar governments were in exile. How these countries would be governed, inside what borders and by whom, would be major objects of discussion.

On the agenda also, somewhat obliquely at Teheran, explicitly at Yalta, was the future of China, though at both meetings this enormous subject would be handled in sub rosa fashion. Not quite so large, but large enough, was the issue of “reparations” that the Germans owed the Allies, which in practice mainly meant the Russians.† Added to these issues were questions involving refugees uprooted by the war, of whom there were several millions and whose plight affected all of Europe and much of Asia. All this compounded by the ravages of disease, hunger, and the mass destruction of industries, farms, and dwellings by saturation bombing and five-plus years of fighting.

In sum, just about everything imaginable was up for decision at these meetings, with Yalta in particular a veritable workshop for making over the world de novo, as so much of the preexisting global order had been demolished.

Of significance also, measured against the backdrop of the Atlantic Charter, was the way such matters would be handled. As things played out at Teheran and Yalta, the noble sentiments voiced in the charter amounted to little more than window dressing. In the vast majority of cases, the relevant choices would be made simply by the fiat of the Big Three powers: where borders would be drawn, what areas and assets belonged to whom, where populations would be moved because of such decisions. The three leaders would likewise decide, directly or indirectly, what political forces would prevail where and the forms of government to be installed in formerly captive nations, including those in alignment with the victors. No “freely expressed wishes of the people” about it.

Three prominent cases of this type were Yugoslavia, Poland, and China, all of which would be pulled into the vortex of Communist power when the war concluded. What the people of these countries thought about the decisions that shaped their destiny was immaterial, as they would have nothing effective to say about the subject. In these instances, governments would be imposed by top-down decree, intimidation, or outright violence. These results were both tragic and ironic, given the stated objects of the war, but especially so for Poland, as its independence had been the supposed casus belli of the conflict with the Nazis (as China was for the American war in Asia).

A similar fate would befall other nations of Eastern and Central Europe. Latvia, Estonia and Lithuania, Rumania, Bulgaria, Hungary, and Albania would be absorbed into the Soviet empire as the war proceeded. Czechoslovakia would hold out a few years longer but also be subject to Red conquest, as was self-evidently the part of Germany to be controlled by Moscow. All this was prelude to half a century of Cold War struggle, with numerous outbreaks along the way of hot-war fighting, in every quarter of the planet.

Nor was the absence of peace the only tragedy of this tragic era. As the forces of Communism advanced, the practices that prevailed in Russia would be extended also. With few exceptions, where the Soviet armies came to rest, they or their surrogates stayed, and would stay for years to come. Poland, Hungary, East Germany, et al. would—in another famous phrase of Churchill—be sealed up behind an Iron Curtain of repression. Behind that impenetrable barrier, concealed from view and their voices strangled, untold numbers of helpless victims would be killed, tortured, and imprisoned, with no hope of rescue or outside assistance, and no certain knowledge in the West of what had happened to them.

In the years to follow, similar results would occur in Asia. Millions would be slaughtered in China once the Communists got control there, and millions more would perish in Korea, Vietnam, Cambodia, Laos. Red police states would in due course extend from the Baltic to the Pacific, and later to Africa and Latin America, denying freedoms, shutting down religious institutions, locking up dissenters. And even where Communist systems did not prevail, authoritarian governments of one sort or another were the rule instead of the exception. The supposedly progressive twentieth century thus became a saturnalia of tyranny and violence, surpassing in this respect also all previous records of such horrors.

These developments were obviously light-years from the visions of peace and justice proclaimed by the Western leaders in World War II and in jarring contrast to the objects of the war expressed in the Atlantic Charter. Viewed from any angle, nothing could have been further from the oft-stated aims of Roosevelt and Churchill, who had announced a series of high objectives but somehow accomplished the reverse of what they said they wanted. Though the law of unintended consequences often rules in the affairs of nations, history affords few examples of such totally counterproductive action and catastrophic failure on such a colossal basis. Yet there were many factors in the wartime equation that, to a discerning eye, could have foretold these dismal outcomes.

Fairly obvious at the time, and even more so later, were the geostrategic consequences of the war, given the opposing lineups that developed early in the fighting. The inevitable main effect was to enhance the strength of the Soviet Union, as the war would destroy the two major powers, Germany and Japan, that had contained it on its borders. With these states demolished, there was no country in Europe strong enough to resist the further advance of Communist power, while in Asia the only sizable obstacle facing Moscow was the shaky regime of Nationalist China, which by 1949 would itself succumb to Communist revolution.

The looming European imbalance had been visible early on to the veteran geostrategist Churchill. Though he held mistaken notions of his own that contributed to the postwar debacle, he became increasingly concerned about the growth of Soviet power as the war unfolded. He saw clearly that, while the conflict was being fought to free Europe from a genocidal tyrant, it would end by placing the continent at the mercy of another. The great tragedy of the struggle, he would write, was that “after all the exertions and sacrifices of millions of people, and of victories of the Righteous cause, we will not have found peace and security and that we lie in the grip of even worse perils than we have surmounted.”3

Churchill’s conclusion from these reflections was that the West urgently needed to shore up its defenses against the expansion of Soviet power, which was what eventually did happen in Europe toward the end of the 1940s. The same wartime phenomenon, meanwhile, would be apparent also to some high-level American observers, but was viewed by them in an entirely different light, leading to sharply different conclusions. In these official U.S. precincts, the impending dominance of Soviet power in Europe was not something to be combated, deplored, or counterbalanced, but rather an outcome to be accommodated and assisted.

The most explicit and seemingly authoritative statement of this startling view was a policy paper carried to one of the wartime meetings† by Roosevelt adviser Harry Hopkins. This document, among other things, asserted: “Russia’s post-war position in Europe will be a dominant one. With Germany crushed, there is no power in Europe to oppose her tremendous military forces. The conclusions from the foregoing are obvious. Since Russia is the decisive factor in the war, she must be given every assistance and every effort must be made to obtain her friendship.”4 (Emphasis added.)

Who drafted this astonishing statement is unknown, though Hopkins biographer Robert Sherwood tells us it came from a “very high level United States military strategic estimate.” More certain is that the thoughts expressed matched those of Hopkins himself and of his chieftain, FDR—presaging, as Sherwood notes, “the policy which guided the making of decisions at Teheran and, much later, at Yalta.”

Seeking Soviet “friendship” and giving Moscow “every assistance” indeed summed up American policy at Teheran and Yalta, and for some while before those meetings. The most vivid expression of Roosevelt’s ideas to this effect would be quoted by William Bullitt, a longtime confidant of the President, and his first envoy to Moscow. Bullitt recounted an episode early in the war in which he suggested to FDR that American Lend-Lease aid to Russia might provide some leverage with a balky Kremlin. To this, according to Bullitt, the President responded: “I have just a hunch that Stalin doesn’t want anything but security for his country, and I think that if I give him everything I possibly can and ask nothing from him in return, noblesse oblige, he won’t try to annex anything and will work for world democracy and peace.”5 (Emphasis added.) Bullitt, who had learned about Stalin the hard way in Russia, tried to dissuade the President from this view but was not successful.†

This remarkable Roosevelt quote might seem implausible if there weren’t other statements on the record a good deal like it. In October 1942, for instance, the President wrote to Churchill: “I think there is nothing more important than that Stalin feel that we mean to support him without qualification and at great sacrifice”—which was pretty close to the Bullitt version. As for the noblesse oblige, FDR at Yalta would be recorded by British Field Marshal Alan Brooke as saying, “of one thing I am certain; Stalin is not an imperialist.” And at a post-Yalta meeting, the President observed to his presumably nonplussed cabinet that as Stalin early on had studied for the priesthood, “something entered into his nature of the way in which a Christian gentleman should behave.”6

When we recall that Stalin was one of the great mass murderers of all time, quite on a par with Hitler, these Roosevelt statements are most charitably described as surrealistic—less charitably, as irresponsible and dangerous nonsense. They were the more so as the President had at his beck experts on Soviet affairs including Bullitt, Loy Henderson, and George F. Kennan, all of whom had spent years in Moscow and knew much of the ghastly truth concerning Stalin. The President and his entourage, however, had no use for the counsel of such people, some of whom would in the 1930s and the war years be ousted from official posts because of their anti-Red opinions. (See chapter 19.)

Why Roosevelt believed the things he did concerning Stalin, or was willing to gamble the future of mankind on such “hunches,” doesn’t permit a definite answer. Undoubtedly a contributing factor was that he had close-in counselors who took a highly favorable view of Stalin and whose ideas trumped those of a Bullitt, Henderson, or Kennan. One such was Joseph Davies, who succeeded Bullitt as ambassador to Moscow and there became enamored of Stalin and the Soviet economic system. In a book about his experience in Russia, Davies would praise the Soviets in general, extenuate the bloody purge trials of the 1930s, and suggest that Stalin among his numerous virtues favored religious freedom and free elections (neither of which, despite some wartime gestures to placate U.S. opinion, ever existed in Stalin’s Russia).

As to the up-close-and-personal Stalin, Davies would write in a memorable passage: “He gives the impression of a strong mind which is composed and wise. His brown eye is exceedingly kindly and gentle. A child would like to sit on his lap and a dog would sidle up to him.”7 No doubt a leader with these amiable qualities would have had a sense of noblesse oblige, and perhaps some aspect of a “Christian gentleman,” so Davies may have been a source for these strange Rooseveltian notions. It appears in any event that the President’s thoughts about such matters were generally influenced by Davies, who continued to advise the White House in the war years, though there were others on the scene who had a similar benighted view of Stalin.

Among these was Harry Hopkins, so close to the President he lived in the White House. Hopkins had at his own initiative been sent to Moscow by Roosevelt in July 1941—before America was in the war but a month after Hitler invaded Russia—to consult with Stalin about the kind of U.S. assistance the Soviets wanted. Hopkins thereafter wrote an admiring profile of Stalin, not quite so fawning as the Davies version but glowing with enthusiasm, then spent the war years zealously pushing through American aid to Russia.†

Hopkins’s most famous statement about such matters—albeit one of many—was his pledge to a pro-Russian crowd at a June 1942 rally in New York promoting aid to Moscow. “We are determined,” he said, “that nothing shall stop us from sharing with you all that we have.”8 In private comments, as discussed hereafter, he would make other even more emphatic statements of like nature. As events would show, these were faithful reflections of his—and Roosevelt’s—attitude toward the Kremlin.

Also affecting Roosevelt’s outlook toward Moscow were certain personal traits and ideas he held about his own powers of persuasion. His confidence in Stalin was great, but his confidence in himself was greater. With some reason, based on his political successes at home, he saw himself as a charismatic figure who could persuade people to his way of thinking, if only they could be exposed to his irresistible person. He was convinced he could do this with Stalin, so that if they could just meet face-to-face FDR’s charm and magnetism would set right the troublesome issues between them.

In pursuit of this conception, Roosevelt at Teheran and Yalta adopted a strategy of distancing himself from Churchill and making common cause with Stalin. This was rationalized as an effort to convince the dictator that the Anglo-Americans weren’t “ganging up” on him, but degenerated into a series of unfunny Roosevelt jokes at Churchill’s expense—plus side remarks to Stalin about the evils of British colonialism (no comments about Soviet colonialism)—that amounted to “ganging up” on Churchill.† This gambit was so tawdry even FDR interpreter Charles Bohlen, a supporter of Yalta, was offended, and, as backing for England was the main alleged reason for our involvement in the Atlantic conflict, it added yet another ironic reversal to America’s wartime record.

Roosevelt’s thoughts about such matters would be expressed early on to Churchill, when he wrote to the British leader: “I hope you will not mind my being totally frank when I tell you I think I can personally handle Stalin better than either your foreign office or my State Department. Stalin hates the guts of all your people. He thinks he likes me better, and I hope he will continue to do so.”9 (Emphasis added.) These comments were made before FDR had any direct contact with Stalin (they wouldn’t meet until Teheran) and not much by way of indirect connection. They were rather clearly based on advice from Hopkins on his return from Moscow, and probably some input from Davies.

In fact, as with Stalin’s alleged sense of noblesse oblige, or qualities as a Christian gentleman, there is no known evidence that he had any personal liking for FDR. As diplomat/historian Kennan would observe, for Roosevelt’s notion that if only Stalin “could be exposed to the persuasive charms of someone like FDR himself” Soviet cooperation would be obtained, “there were no grounds whatever, and of a peculiarity unworthy of a statesman of FDR’s stature.”10 It was also, unfortunately, the notion on which Roosevelt gambled the fate of the world at Teheran and Yalta.

Though the idea that Stalin liked Roosevelt in any personal sense may be questioned, he undoubtedly did like having, as leader of the powerful United States, someone prepared to give him unlimited favors, while America sought nothing in return from Russia. As Stalin was more than willing to receive and seldom hesitant in asking, this would have been an arrangement tailor-made for Moscow—the proverbial taking of candy from a baby. Concerning which, the dictator’s true attitudes perhaps shone through a toast he made at Yalta, intriguingly linked to the issue of deception. On this occasion, Stalin held forth on the subject of deceit, saying, “Why should I not deceive my ally? I as a naive man think it best not to deceive my ally even if he is a fool.”11 To which he might have added that, if one’s ally is indeed a fool, it doesn’t take any great effort to deceive him, as he will do the deceiving for you.



2.

THE GHOST SHIP AT YALTA

With everything that was on the line at Yalta, one might suppose the U.S. government would have sent there a first-rate team of policy experts and negotiators to uphold American and free-world interests. Dealing with the tough and wily Soviets in such a context would have required the best that mid-century America had to offer. Such, however, was not to be the case at this world-changing summit.

Few people familiar with the American delegation at Yalta would have called it first-rate, or even adequate to the challenge. On the military side, there was an impressive show of brass and braid, but the diplomatic group was different. Among his entourage Roosevelt had two staffers knowledgeable of the Soviet Union—interpreter Bohlen and ambassador to Moscow W. Averell Harriman†—plus some support personnel to be discussed hereafter. But notably absent were ranking U.S. experts who knew a lot about the Soviets and diplomacy in general: top-line officials such as Undersecretary of State Joseph Grew, State’s European chief James C. Dunn, Russia specialists Henderson and Kennan. None of these would make the trip to Yalta.

On hand instead to counsel FDR at the highest policy levels were his new secretary of state, Edward R. Stettinius Jr.—with all of two months’ experience on the job†—and the President’s chief confidant on domestic matters, Harry Hopkins. Stettinius by common consent was a foreign policy novice appointed simply because he was a protégé of Hopkins. Stettinius in essence got the job because he would have few independent notions (as occasionally happened with his predecessor, Cordell Hull). This was important to FDR, who prided himself on being his own foreign secretary, and typically functioned in that manner.

Hopkins had foreign experience of a sort, but this consisted mostly of shuttling back and forth as a special envoy to Stalin and Churchill before America was technically in the war, to see if they wanted our assistance (they did). This fit well with his earlier domestic role as dispenser of welfare dollars, and became official in the war years when he was made the overall head of Lend-Lease operations, providing aid to U.S. allies.

With Stettinius at his side and Hopkins hovering wraithlike in the background, Roosevelt at Yalta was indeed his own secretary of state, and we have briefly seen what this would have meant for dealings with the Soviet Union. He was intent on making Stalin like him via personal magnetism and unrequited favors, while distancing American interests from those of England. His main object was to get Stalin to agree with the Rooseveltian vision of a peaceable kingdom to come via the United Nations, establishing a U.S.-Soviet condominium to manage the postwar world between them.

All that, however, was just a beginning. In addition to his peculiar view of Stalin and the negotiating process, there were definite signs at Yalta that the President was failing badly in his powers. As known to some people at the time, and widely acknowledged now, Roosevelt was a dying man at Yalta, and indications were many that his illness had affected his performance for some while before then. Exactly how to measure its impact is uncertain, but that it was a significant factor can’t very well be doubted.

Roosevelt’s health had been an issue—for him and others—from the day in 1921 when he was struck down by polio, as a result of which he would never walk again unaided. His battle to overcome his disability, and refusal to let it blight his prospects, were of epic nature—something again known at the time to a handful of people but now a matter of general knowledge. Even his bitterest critics must marvel at his two decades of struggle with his affliction, and the heroic spirit in which he waged it.

Not so heroic, but perhaps commendable in its way, was the role of the Washington press corps in concealing his infirmity from the public. Photographs or newsreels of FDR being carried, pushed in a wheelchair, or otherwise appearing physically helpless were discouraged by the White House. The media of the time usually complied with these restrictions. And so long as projecting a presidential image of physical vigor was the only point of the charade, there was arguably no major damage being done to the nation’s interests.

As we now know, however, Roosevelt had other health problems of a more daunting nature in terms of his official performance. These concerned not the paralysis of his lower body or even his physical health in general, but involved instead his mental balance, judgment, and powers of comprehension. A good deal of information about such matters has become available in recent decades, all of it disturbing. Two informative essays are The Dying President (1998) by presidential historian Robert Ferrell and FDR’s Deadly Secret (2009) by Dr. Steven Lomazow and journalist Eric Fettmann. These studies differ in suggesting the causes of Roosevelt’s illness but are alike in describing its effects on his ability to carry out his duties. And for policy purposes, of course, the effects are the important features.†

Eyewitness accounts of Roosevelt’s declining state began at the Teheran conference with Churchill and Stalin (November 1943) and would become more frequent in the days that followed. There had been signs of weakness before, recorded by a doting cousin who was with him on a regular basis, but it was at Teheran that these first seemed to affect his official conduct. On November 28, at a dinner meeting with Churchill and Stalin, FDR collapsed and had to be taken to his quarters. According to Charles Bohlen, the President “turned green and great drops of sweat began to bead off his face.”1 The episode was put down to “indigestion,” but events that followed would suggest a different diagnosis.

By early 1944, Roosevelt’s decline was so apparent that observers who saw him at close range knew he was gravely ill. One such was journalist Turner Catledge, then a reporter for the New York Times, later executive editor of the paper. On returning from Europe in March 1944, Catledge would write, he talked with the President at the White House and was profoundly shaken by the experience.

“When I first entered the President’s office,” said Catledge, “I had my first glimpse of him in several months. I was shocked and horrified—so much so that my impulse was to turn around and leave. I felt I was seeing something I wasn’t supposed to see. . . . He was sitting there with a vague, glassy eyed expression and his mouth hanging open. . . . Reluctantly, I sat down and we started to talk. . . . He would start talking about something, then in mid-sentence he would stop and his mouth would drop open . . . and he sat staring at me in silence. I knew I was looking at a terribly sick man.”2

This was eleven months before the Big Three would convene at Yalta. In the weeks ensuing, there was considerable other testimony of like nature. Among those who remarked on FDR’s declining powers was former Democratic national chairman Jim Farley, a main architect of Roosevelt’s early political triumphs. In his memoirs, Farley would recount the comments of many observers of this era about the President’s illness.

“From the time of his return from Teheran in December,” said Farley, “there were disturbing reports about Roosevelt’s health. Hundreds of persons, high and low, reported to me that he looked bad, his mind wandered, his hands shook, his jaw sagged and he tired easily. Almost everyone who came in had some story about the President’s health—directly or indirectly—from any one of various doctors who examined him. . . . Members of the Cabinet, senators, congressmen, members of the White House staff, various Federal officials and newspapermen carried a variety of reports on the President’s failing health.”

All this, again, in early 1944. By midsummer, at the time of the Chicago Democratic convention, which nominated Roosevelt for a fourth term in office, Farley recalled: “Everywhere the President’s health was a major topic, though it was discussed largely in whispers. . . .” The political implications weren’t lost on the experienced pols of the Democratic Party.† “Anyone with a grain of common sense,” wrote Farley, “would surely realize from the appearance of the President that he is not a well man and there is not a chance in the world for him to carry on for four years more . . . he just can’t survive another presidential term . . . .”3 On which evidence, the Democratic leaders at Chicago nominated a dying man—the man who seven months later would go to Yalta.

Roosevelt himself didn’t attend the Chicago convention, instead wending his way by train across the country to San Diego, where he would embark on a leisurely ocean voyage. At San Diego he delivered his nomination acceptance speech by radio, being snapped by a Life magazine photographer in an unflattering picture that made the President look old and ailing. He then left on a five-week Pacific cruise, the main stated purpose of which was a Pearl Harbor meeting with General Douglas MacArthur and Admiral Chester Nimitz to discuss the war in Asia.

At this meeting, MacArthur explained to FDR his plan to return to the Philippines and his tactic of bypassing enemy strongpoints in the Pacific. The general later recorded his impressions of FDR, which matched those of Catledge and Farley. “I was shocked,” said MacArthur, “at the personal appearance of President Roosevelt. I had not seen him in a number of years and he had failed immeasurably. I predict that he will be dead within the year.”4 That grim forecast would be distressingly on-target.

Similar comments would be made by others who saw Roosevelt soon thereafter. Canadian prime minister William Lyon Mackenzie King, who would host a September Roosevelt-Churchill summit at Quebec, remarked that the President “had failed very much since I last saw him.” In the run-up to Quebec, War Secretary Henry Stimson made like observations. “I have been much troubled,” said Stimson, “by the President’s physical condition. . . . I rather fear for the effects of this hard conference upon him. . . . I am particularly troubled that he is going up there without any real preparation for the solution of the underlying problem of how to treat Germany.” (Stimson added that FDR seemed to have made “absolutely no study” of the German problem—a premonition borne out by what happened at the conference.5 See chapter 15.)

After the fall election, during which FDR briefly seemed to rally, Labor Secretary Frances Perkins was likewise alarmed by his condition. As she would recall it, “the change in appearance had to do with the oncoming of a kind of glassy eye, and an extremely drawn look around the jaw and cheeks, and even a sort of dropping of the muscles of control of the jaw and mouth . . . if you saw him close, you could see that his hands were weak. . . . When he fainted, as he did occasionally, that was all accentuated. It would be very brief, and he’d be back again.”6

On the eve of Yalta, similar thoughts would occur to interpreter Bohlen. Though saying that FDR’s condition didn’t then affect his speech or mental powers, Bohlen too would be disturbed by the President’s illness. “I was shocked,” said Bohlen, “by Roosevelt’s physical appearance. His condition had deteriorated markedly in the less than two weeks since I had seen him. He was not only frail and desperately tired, he looked ill. . . . Everyone noticed the president’s condition, and we in the American delegation began to talk among ourselves about the basic state of his health.”7

All of this, however, was kept secret from the public. Principal blame for this has been laid at the door of Dr. Ross McIntire, the Navy admiral who was Roosevelt’s physician. McIntire insisted at the time of the President’s death, and later, that the stroke that ended his life came out of the blue, that there had been no previous signals of disaster. McIntire has been attacked for taking this position, going along with the White House line that the President was in fine fettle. Again, however, the main point from a policy angle isn’t the issue of medical scandal or malpractice, but FDR’s ability to carry out his duties.

At the time of Yalta, reports about Roosevelt’s mental state were varied, which may reflect the fact that he had good days and bad, but also that different people had different motives in describing his condition. Tellingly, those who said he was on top of his game included close-in confidants and advisers—Bohlen, Stettinius, Harriman, and Admiral William Leahy.† All had reason to defend FDR at Yalta, but also to defend Yalta itself, as all were to some degree responsible for its outcomes. Others on the scene would have different notions. James Byrnes, present as an observer but without responsibility for things decided, expressed grave concern about the President’s failing health and obvious lack of preparation.† Even the admiring Harry Hopkins, who did have policy input at Yalta, would later say he “doubted that Roosevelt had heard half of what had been said at the Yalta sessions.”8
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